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Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) Healthy 
Incentives Pilot (HIP) Request for Application (RFA)  

Questions and Answers by Topic Area 
 

As of January 29, 2010  
 

Note:  Questions received from potential HIP applicants have been grouped by 
topic area below and in cases when similar questions were submitted, the questions 
have been combined and one response has been provided.  Pages denoted within 
the questions or answers refer to the RFA or a question already answered within 
this document.  
 
Each topic area is identified with an A, B, C, D, E, F, or G and each question 
within the topic area is denoted with that letter preceding the question number. The 
question wording is what was originally submitted to FNS for response. 
 

A.  Application Format/Process/Timeline 
 
 A1.  We don’t see a page limit on the application other than the 1 page summary and 1 page 

table of contents.  Is this correct?   
 

A. Yes.  There is no application page limitation for submissions; however, it would be 
helpful to the reviewers to be as succinct as possible but still meet the requirements 
of the RFA. 

  
 A2. The RFA states that it will post answers to applicants’ questions on the FNS website 

and will also review the answers during the conference call to be held in February.  
What date will FNS’ responses to the applicants’ questions be posted to the website?   

 
A. Within 3 business days of the RFA State teleconference. 

 
 A3. As answers to applicants’ questions can often generate new questions, will there be an 

opportunity for applicants to ask follow-up or additional clarification questions based 
on FNS’ responses to the first round of inquiries 

 
A. Yes.  All questions must be submitted in writing. 

 
 A4. Since it is likely additional questions will emerge during the proposal development 

process, will there be an opportunity for a future conference call where FNS will 
respond to questions or will FNS respond to questions directly?   

 
A. We will respond to written inquiries.  We strongly encourage potential applicants 

to submit questions as soon as possible.  We want to ensure that all applicants have 
as much time as possible to prepare the proposal. 
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A5. Applications may be submitted by hand delivery, by mail, or electronically using the 
federal grants website: www.grants.gov.  However, the original email message 
forwarding information about the Request for Applications stated in bold print: “To 
apply, States must go through the www.grants.gov site only.”  Which is correct?  

 
A. Applicants may submit their applications in person, by mail, or via       

www.grants.gov.  Applications must be received by May 21, 2010, 5 pm (EDT).  
 
A6. Applicants are required to provide “a detailed description and preliminary outline to 

describe how the following benefit delivery and reporting requirements will be 
addressed…”  Can FNS describe what is expected to be provided in terms of the 
referenced “preliminary outline” (i.e., a process flow or an outline of a design 
document, etc.)?   

 
A. Attachment F, page 37, describes the features and options for what is to be 

included in a submission.  It is up to the applicant to decide how best to describe 
the requirements for their particular site.  FNS recommends an outline be used but 
a process flow is acceptable. 

 
A7. A plan is to be included as part of the applicant’s response regarding soliciting retailer 

participation in the Pilot.  Is a separate document representing a Retailer Recruitment 
Plan to be created and attached as an appendix to the completed application response, 
or does FNS instead intend for each applicant to provide a complete description of 
their retailer recruitment methodology within the application response itself?   

 
A. States may use either method to respond to the RFA. 

 
A8. A plan is to be included as part of the applicant’s response regarding participant 

notification with regard to their participation in the Pilot.  Is a separate document 
representing a Participant Notification Plan to be created and attached as an appendix 
to the completed application response, or does FNS instead intend for each applicant 
to provide a complete description of their participant notification methodology within 
the application response itself?   

 
A. States may use either method to respond to the RFA. 

 
A9. According to proposed timelines, Pilot operations begin and evaluation activities 

occur during the holiday season (November-January).  Would USDA consider 
adjusting the schedules to avoid these periods, which are especially busy for retailers 
and may make them reluctant to participate?   

 
A. The exact schedule of Pilot implementation will depend on the specifics of the 

State’s plan.  States are invited to submit a revised schedule and rationale to fit 
their technical proposals.  The current estimated schedule is acceptable to FNS.  
While FNS understands the holiday retail environment, testing and development 
would take place well in advance of the holiday season and initial incentive 
delivery and any necessary adjustments would take place three weeks before 
Thanksgiving. 
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A10. How will enhancements proposed in addition to the core proposal affect the scoring 
of the core proposal?  

 
A. Enhancements to elements of the core proposal (e.g., meeting a core element in a 

way that goes above and beyond the minimum specifications in the RFA and adds 
value to the Pilot) will be reflected in the points awarded to that element in the 
technical review.  Enhancements unrelated to the core proposal (e.g., something 
unique the State wishes to propose) will be factored in to the best value 
determination made by the selection official (see RFA page 18). 

 

B. Target Foods 
 

B1.  Page 3, Overview: In describing the legislation, the RFA indicates that the incentive 
is for SNAP households to purchase fruits, vegetables or other healthful foods.  This 
is the only reference for ‘healthful foods’.  Please define healthful foods.   

 
A. “Healthful Foods” are foods recommended by the Dietary Guidelines of America 

(DGA).  The DGA are the foundation for all nutrition assistance Programs at 
FNS.  For purposes of the Healthy Incentives Pilot, the targeted foods are defined 
as foods allowed by federal regulations for the Special Supplemental Nutrition 
Program for Women, Infants and Children (WIC) Fruit and Vegetable Voucher.  
In some cases States have been given approval by WIC to authorize fewer fruits 
and vegetables than the national definition includes.  For SNAP purposes, the 
national definition contained in the RFA is the only approved definition for the 
HIP.  There will be no variation in the definition for the HIP Grantee. 

 
B2.  Page 8, Target Foods – Please clarify what is allowable under HIP.  It appears that 

HIP incorporates some WIC rules for defining healthy foods.  FMNP only allows 
locally grown food.  SNAP rules are the broadest.  For HIP purposes: Farmers and 
farmers markets allow vendors to bring in fresh produce grown in other states. As an 
example, in the Midwest, farmers may supplement their product line by purchasing 
produce from the ‘Fresh Market’ in Chicago during the late fall, winter and early 
spring.  The out of state produce is normally identified as such at the market by well 
place signage.  It is common to see Georgia peaches or Florida sweet corn offered in 
mid-west markets.  Will HIP participants be allowed to purchase eligible food items, 
regardless of where it was grown?   

 
A. For purposes of the Healthy Incentives Pilot, the targeted foods are defined as 

foods allowed by federal regulations for the Special Supplemental Nutrition 
Program for Women, Infants and Children (WIC) Fruit and Vegetable Voucher 
(pages 8-9).  In some cases States have been given approval by WIC to authorize 
fewer fruits and vegetables than the national definition includes.  The national 
definition contained in the RFA is the only definition for SNAP HIP eligible 
foods.  There will be no variation in the RFA target food definition for SNAP 
HIP.  HIP participants will be allowed to purchase eligible food items, regardless 
of where the food item is grown. 
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B3. Certain restrictions apply to the target foods such as: 

 Yams and sweet potatoes are allowed while white potatoes are not. 
 Fresh fruit with fats or oils added are allowed while fresh vegetables with fats or 

oils added are not. 
 A variety of canned or frozen vegetables are allowed but not with added sugars, 

fats or oils. 
 

  As retailers will be required to fulfill the difficult task of maintaining a list of eligible 
target foods that conform to these complex restrictions, will FNS consider simplifying 
the eligibility requirements for the targeted healthy foods?  

 
A. No.  The WIC fruit and vegetable voucher national definition (see RFA pages 8-

9) is the only allowable definition.  See response to Questions B2 and D12. 
 
B4. Figure 1, Minimum Requirements and Specifications for WIC Fruits and Vegetables, 

states that any variety of canned or frozen vegetables, except white potatoes, are 
allowed if they contain no added sugars, fats or oils, and they may be regular or lower 
in sodium.  As canned vegetables commonly contain some amount of sugar and salt, 
can FNS define what constitutes “regular” or “low” sodium items?  Will the can size 
be considered in relation to the amount of sodium contained in the item?   

 
A. To clarify, canned and frozen vegetables may contain sodium in any amount (i.e., 

may be “regular” or lower in sodium).  There is no restriction on the amount of 
salt (sodium) allowed in canned and frozen vegetables.  However, dried 
vegetables may not contain any salt (sodium).   Canned, frozen, and dried fruits 
may not contain any salt (sodium). 

 
B5. The third bullet in this section states that, in general, fruits and vegetables must not 

have any added sugars, fats, oils or salt.  However, Figure 1 states that vegetables 
may be “regular or lower in sodium.”  Can FNS clarify if vegetables may or may not 
contain salt?   

 
 A. See response to Question B4. 

 
B6. Our state and many other state WIC programs authorize fresh, frozen and canned 

forms of fruits and vegetables.  FNS states that HIP will target all forms of fruits and 
vegetables (fresh, frozen, canned and dried).  Because WIC does not allow dried fruit 
and vegetables for children under age 5, many states have not included them on their 
allowed WIC food list.  Since this is the case in many states, would FNS allow a state 
to design HIP to target fresh, frozen and canned forms of fruits and vegetables?   

 
A. No.  The basis for the SNAP HIP target foods definition is the WIC fruit and 

vegetable voucher definition.  See response to question B2.  The SNAP Program 
does not specify, by age, which food items a participant may eat and will not do 
so with the HIP.  The WIC fruit and vegetable voucher definition was used as the 
basis for the SNAP HIP target food definition.  The many WIC food package 
options, variations and rules are not applicable for SNAP HIP. 
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C. Pilot Site/Operations 

 
C1. Page 12, Local SNAP Agency – The RFA states that local agency staff will be 

responsible for facilitating the selection of HIP participants and random assignment to 
HIP participant and control groups.  In states that are integrated (one centralized 
policy & IT area); we believe that DHS Central Office would perform this task 
electronically versus local staff who are burdened with case loads of 600+.  Is this 
permissible?   

 
A. Yes.  States are encouraged to design and staff the Pilot in the most efficient and 

effective way for their own SNAP and community environments.  These decisions 
should be justified in the States’ Staffing Plan (see RFA pages 19-20, 36, & 40). 

 
C2. Page 17, Letters of Commitment/MOU – The RFA states that all local SNAP 

agencies must agree to cooperate and perform certain responsibilities.  In some states, 
the local offices are part of the SNAP agency.  Are we correct that in this situation, no 
formal agreement would be needed?   

 
A. A letter of commitment from the local agency or memoranda of understanding is 

not needed in this situation.  However, a statement addressing the capacity of the 
local agency to participate in the Pilot as stated in the RFA requirements is 
needed. 

 
C3. General Statement – Due to rapidly rising SNAP caseloads, staff in local offices are 

increasingly under time constraints trying to meet federal requirements for processing 
applications, modifying benefits, etc.  In states where the local agencies are under the 
same auspices as the SNAP agency, is it permissible to keep as much of the HIP-
related work centralized and performed by other Department staff?   

 
A. See response to Question C1.  

 
C4. Page 30, Prepare to assist the evaluation contractor – The RFA states that the 

evaluation contractor will be primarily responsible for informing participants about 
participation in the evaluation and the procedures involved.  Will the evaluator 
contractor mail the actual notification to the participants?  Is this a budget item for the 
SNAP agency or the evaluator contractor?   

 
A. Once the sample is drawn by the evaluation contractor it is the State’s 

responsibility to notify and train the 7500 HIP participants on the operation of the 
Pilot (see RFA page 15).  States should budget appropriately.  The evaluation 
contractor will be notifying the 1500 treatment and 1500 control participants of 
their selection for participation in the evaluation.  Notification and training related 
to participation in the evaluation data collection is the responsibility of the 
evaluation contractor.  However, States are expected to assist with providing 
information on participants (e.g., notification of address changes) as requested by 
the evaluator. 
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C5. Page 36, Disaster Assistance – Proposals are to identify the amount of disaster 
assistance received in the Pilot area for the past five years.  Please clarify whether you 
are referring only to SNAP disaster assistance.   

 
 A. Only Disaster-SNAP (D-SNAP) assistance information is needed. 
 
C6. Page 11, State Proposed Enhancements - If the SNAP agency proposes an 

enhancement to SNAP ED that is funded in part from private contributions can the 
state include other associated costs in the separate enhanced budget?  Please confirm 
that the regular state match associated with SNAP ED would not apply.   

 
A. No SNAP-Ed enhancements may be provided as part of HIP. Enhancements 

that include SNAP-Ed will not be considered.  
 
C7. Will FNS permit states to specify any waivers that may be needed for their plan?   

 
A. Yes, although approval will depend on the subject and situation as with any 

waiver. 
 
C8. If a HIP participant moves out of the Pilot area, are we correct in assuming that their 

HIP participation would also end?  
 
A. This depends on whether the State knows about the move.  The most likely 

scenario is that the participant would stop earning incentives because he or she is 
not shopping at a participating retailer due to a move away from the Pilot area.  If 
the participant came back to the area to shop, they would still earn the incentive 
unless the move is documented in the SNAP case file and the demographic file 
provided to the EBT vendor is updated. 

 
C9. If a HIP participant shops at a retail store outside of the Pilot area, we assume that 

they would not earn any incentive.  Is this correct?  
 

A. States will define the geographic boundaries of the Pilot site they propose by 
SNAP participant service area and/or address.  It is possible that recipients may 
use food stores outside these boundaries to make a substantial amount of their food 
purchases.  Therefore Pilot applicants are also expected to provide inclusion 
criteria for retailers at the Pilot site (see RFA pages 8 & 36). 

 
C10. Is the state agency required to incorporate the HIP incentive dollars into the regular 

SNAP eligibility system in any way?   
 
A. FNS has no requirements for the State to incorporate HIP data into the eligibility 

system.  However, the Grantee must carefully evaluate whether such information 
is necessary for reconciliation of State-issued benefits or Account Management 
Agent (AMA) increases and decreases. 
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C11. If a SNAP household selected to receive the HIP incentive is found to be ineligible 
for SNAP during the period it received the HIP incentive, either due to client error or 
agency error, must the state agency recoup the HIP dollars?   

 
 A. No.  
 
C12. If a HIP case is selected for Quality Control review and the case is found totally 

ineligible for the review month, are the HIP dollars added to the SNAP dollars and 
factored into the QC error dollar calculation?   

  
 A. No. 
 
C13. What if a household selected to receive the HIP incentive becomes ineligible during 

the duration of the HIP program?  Will we replace that household with another 
household?   
 
A. No.  Incentive funds have been budgeted with the assumption that the 7500 HIP 

participants’ SNAP participation will loosely adhere to FNS’ analysis of program 
dynamics (i.e., turnover). 

 
C14. In a state where SNAP is county-administered, would FNS consider all of the 

following three options acceptable for the selection of a HIP Pilot site?  If so, are any 
inherently more or less desirable: 

 
 The site is a county with 35,000-60,000 SNAP households; 
 The site is a sub-area of a county with 35,000-60,000 SNAP households; or  
 The site is two or more contiguous counties with a combined total of 35,000-

60,000 SNAP households?   
 
A. All three examples are acceptable. The desirability of a proposed Pilot site depends 

on a number of factors, including the ability of the State to recruit retailers and 
manage retailer participation and notify and train HIP participants. States are 
expected to provide a rationale for their proposed site, including a discussion of 
how its geographic features will impact their capacity to successfully implement 
the Pilot. 

 
C15. Has USDA Counsel determined that suggested self-identification methods do not 

stigmatize participants or violate their privacy? Human subjects’ protection 
requirements are not mentioned; was it determined that this study does not require 
Institutional Review Board clearance?  How will the uncertainty of 
approval/modification be factored into scoring or timelines?  On what basis is 
projection made that OMB clearance will be obtained within 60 days?  

 
A. The suggested self-identification methods would be used voluntarily by  

SNAP participants who wish to earn the incentive at retail locations with stand-
alone POS devices.  SNAP participants already separate SNAP-eligible items from 
the rest of their purchases when using SNAP benefits at retail locations with 
standalone POS devices. 
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The White House Office of Management and Budget (OMB) has jurisdiction over 
Federal Agency research activities and is the authority responsible for reviewing 
information collection packages with regard to the protection of human subjects.  
FNS has estimated 16 weeks for OMB clearance based on past experience. 

 
C16. Would USDA consider allowing a state to extend certification for households in both 

evaluation groups for the entire 12-month Pilot period to decrease the risk of 
attrition?   

 
A. Yes.  USDA would consider such a request for waiver.  However, consideration 

would need to be given to how such a waiver would influence the make-up of the 
evaluation sample. 

 
C17. For the Pilot, could we pick an area that is growing in numbers of SNAP recipients, 

i.e., can the project start with only 35,000 recipients and grow?   
 
A. An area with a SNAP caseload of 35,000 households meets the specifications for 

the size of the Pilot area. 
 
C18. The RFA indicates that the incentive is 30% of the purchase value.   Would it be 

allowable for the Pilot state to supplement this cash incentive with additional money 
or other benefits?  

 
A. Enhancements to the Pilot may be proposed by the state.  These enhancements 

must be described in full and budgeted separately from the basic requirements 
described in the RFA.  States should keep in mind, however, that FNS intends to 
select a Pilot with features that could be broadly implemented in the current SNAP 
environment. 

 
C19. Small states can be challenged to qualify for this competition based on the size limits 

you describe in the RFA.  You do, however, mention contiguous areas.  Will you 
consider that a small state that has the required numbers in its statewide caseload and 
proposes to use the entire state as the Pilot meets the size requirement?   

 
A. Yes. 

 
C20. There is significant work for the retailers that participate in this Pilot to prepare for 

the Pilot.  Is it a legitimate use of Pilot funds to propose a financial incentive to 
participating retailers?   

 
A. Yes, at the State’s discretion, financial and technical assistance can be made 

available to reprogram cash registers and EBT terminals, and/or to develop manual 
systems to accommodate necessary accounting and crediting procedures for 
incentives.  This may take the form of an upfront subsidy or reimbursement after 
the fact, as long as the amount does not exceed the retailer’s actual HIP 
implementation costs.  Depending on the number and profile of retailers in the 
selected Pilot area, grant funds may not be sufficient to provide 100% 
reimbursement for the operational costs retailers incur to participate in HIP. 
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C21. Is it accurate that the Pilot funds are for infrastructure development such as changes 
to systems, training, staffing, data collection, etc and that the actual client purchase 
incentive is provided from funds other than the funds available through this 
announcement?   

 
A. Yes, Pilot funds associated with this cooperative agreement (not to exceed $6.3M) 

are for the implementation and operation of the Pilot and to support the State’s 
role in cooperating with the evaluation contractor.  “Data collection” is included 
only as it pertains to EBT and administrative systems and participant case files.  
Evaluation data collection (e.g., participant interviews and focus groups) will take 
place under a separate evaluation contract with its own budget.  Additionally, the 
actual client incentive benefits are not part of the $6.3M budget. 

 
C22. FNS states that retailers’ cost for reprogramming can be covered in the HIP grant.  Is 

there precedent for a State Agency to reimburse retailers for changes in programming 
and staff training?  Or for FNS to do this?  Does FNS have recommendations or 
guidelines for such payments?  

 
A. There is no precedent that we could find for either State agencies or FNS to 

subsidize or reimburse retailers.  Because retailers will be part of the State’s HIP 
Pilot team, we have allowed for funding for system modifications and in-house 
training in the Grant.  But as previously noted in the RFA, we do not expect that 
there will be sufficient funds to reimburse all retailers in full.  We expect States to 
determine how much of the budget will be allotted to retailer support  and how 
those funds will be distributed among them.  

 
C23. If a household randomly assigned to the Pilot closes, can the state assign another 

randomly selected household into the Pilot even if the time the second household has 
to participate is less than 12 months? 

 
A. No.  FNS has planned for household attrition and budgeted for paying incentives 

accordingly. 
 
C24. If a Pilot participant household or household serving in the evaluation control group 

moves out of the Pilot area (temporarily or permanently) or becomes ineligible before 
their participation period has been completed, what, if any action does FNS expect 
the HIP Grantee to take? 

 
A. As discussed in question C23, such households will not be replaced in the Pilot. 

FNS expects the HIP Grantee to document such information in participants’ 
records in a manner mutually agreed upon by the State Grantee, FNS, and the 
evaluation contractor.  

 
C25. Retailers in the Pilot area that typically sell targeted fruits and vegetables directly to 

households must be invited to participate in the HIP program.  Is there a minimum 
number of retailers that must accept the invitation to participate in order to adequately 
support the 7,500 households that will participate in the Pilot?   
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A. In order to serve as the Pilot site, a State must demonstrate the willingness of a 
variety of retailer types to participate and have a plan to secure retailer cooperation 
in place (see RFA pages 4, 17, & 19).  The extent of retailer cooperation 
demonstrated in States’ applications will play a significant role in the technical 
score it receives from the technical review panel. 

 

C26. Please clarify FNS’ intent, within the scope of the Pilot objectives, for allowing 
incentives earned to be used to purchase any SNAP allowable food.   

 
A. FNS determined that restricting the use of incentives to fruits and vegetables 

would not be an effective measure.  First, it would provide less motivation for 
those who currently do not eat fruits and vegetables.  Second, tracking the use of 
the incentive would require a separate account which is not economically feasible 
for this Pilot. 

 
C27. The Roles and Responsibilities section states the HIP Grantee shall meet “specific 

obligations and approval points that will be further delineated by FNS in the terms of 
the cooperative agreement between FNS and HIP Grantee upon award.”  Please 
clarify specifically what will be included in the cooperative agreement as referenced 
in this requirement.   

 
A. What is included in the cooperative agreement will be dependent on the State 

Agency’s proposal.  Adjustments will be needed to coordinate the Pilot design 
with the evaluation effort. The cooperative agreement will encompass the State’s 
proposal and subsequent negotiations between the State and FNS. 

 
C28. Please provide examples of the “specific obligations and approval points” to which 

the HIP Grantee will have to comply.  This section appears to require the applicant to 
commit to comply with unknown requirements.   

 
 A.  In reference to the EBT System, this would include the following items listed in 

Attachment A:  
  

 EBT Contractor’s Design, Development, Implementation and Operations Plan. 
 Functional Design Document. 
 Detailed Design Document including HIP record layouts. 
 Documentation of X9.58 modifications and codes required to support HIP 

Contractor. 
 FNS Interface Specifications, procedures and schedule. 
 TPP Certification Specifications. 
 HIP System Test Plan. 
 Detailed Test Scripts. 
 Final go-no go decision point. 

 
It could also include go-no go points for certain Integrated Electronic Cash Register 
(IECR) and TPP standalone retailers. 
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C29. How does FNS anticipate that SNAP cardholders participating in the HIP Pilot will 
identify the participating retailers, especially in view of the requirement noted in 
question C19 regarding limiting the provision of information about HIP to other 
SNAP households?   

 
A. Ideally all retailers in the Pilot site would participate.  However, FNS realizes that 

is unlikely.  One way to deal with this is to provide a listing of participating 
retailers during the initial HIP participant training.  The State should describe how 
they plan to deal with this issue in its RFA response. 

 
C30. It is understood that the HIP Grantee will be required to attend both the orientation 

and the follow-up meetings that will be held at FNS headquarters.  However, the Use 
of Grant Funds section on page 15 of the RFA does not mention travel expenses in 
the list of allowable items.  Will the use of grant funds be allowed to cover travel 
expenses specifically related to these mandatory meetings and thus considered an 
allowable cost in the applicant’s proposed budget?  

 
A. Yes. 

 
C31. Budgets submitted with the applicants’ responses will be worth up to 20 points and 

will be evaluated to be “allowable and reasonable.”  Will applicants obtain more 
points if their budget is less than $6.3 million? Will other applicants’ budget scores be 
prorated against the highest scoring budget?  Or, will this category be a simple all (20 
points) or nothing (0 points) score?   

 
A. See RFA page 18 for scoring procedures.  Points will be awarded incrementally 

according to how well a State’s budget addresses the required elements (see RFA 
pages 41-42).  Ultimately FNS is looking for the Pilot that represents the best 
value to the Government.  That is, the Pilot meets the objectives specified by FNS 
and is accompanied by a realistic budget that is within the allowable funds. 

 
C32. The number of households reaching or exceeding the level of purchases that would 

result in the maximum capped benefit is to be provided to FNS.  Is the monthly 
maximum cap anticipated to be the same for all households and allotment sizes?  For 
example, will a one-person household and a six-person household have the same 
monthly maximum cap?  

 
A. Yes.  FNS intends to set a flat cap that would apply to all HIP households.  This 

cap will be large enough as to not constrain large households but low enough to 
discourage fraud. 

 
C33. Please define the types of disaster assistance that should be reported.   
 
 A. Disaster assistance provided for SNAP only. 
 
C34. Will FNS be amenable to EBT-Only retailers treating all SNAP cardholders as HIP 

participants?  Although this has been identified as a potential burden on the EBT-
Only retailers, it would facilitate the HIP subtotal being provided for all SNAP 
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participants in order to allow for a comparison of the HIP participant subtotals to non-
HIP cardholder subtotals for the evaluation.   

 
A.  Yes, however States must provide a detailed plan for how this change will be 

explained to all SNAP households.  Only HIP participants can receive information 
and training on HIP.  Other households need to receive as little information as 
possible about HIP in order to maintain the integrity of the evaluation design (i.e., 
separation of the experimental and control groups). 

 

C35. If a retailer participating in the Pilot area wishes to drop out of the Pilot or goes out of 
business prior to the completion of the Pilot, what, if any action does FNS expect the 
HIP Grantee to take?   

 
A. If a retailer no longer wishes to participate or the store is closed for any reason, 

there will be no replacement.  If a retailer sells the store, the new owner may 
continue to participate after being authorized by FNS. 

 
C36. Will retailers be permitted to join the Pilot program once the Pilot has commenced?   
 

A. All retailers who will participate in HIP must have agreements in place with the 
State and be included in the State’s plan before HIP goes operational.  However, 
some stores (e.g., new stores or seasonal markets) may not participate in the entire 
15 months of HIP operations.  This is acceptable as long as those stores are 
included in the State’s plan. 

 
C37. Are legal non-citizens who are not eligible for federally-funded SNAP due to their 

immigration status, but are participating in a State-funded food assistance program, 
eligible to be selected to participate and receive federally funded incentives in the 
Pilot?   

 
A. Potential HIP participants must be participating in federally-funded SNAP in 

order to be randomly selected. 
 

C38. What kind of client notices will be required to the HIP participants?   
 

A. Minimum specifications for notifying the client of their HIP selection and 
information about the Pilot are discussed on RFA pages 12-13.  As with this and 
other elements of the Pilot, States are expected to propose how they would 
conduct the Pilot given their understanding of FNS’s objectives and what is 
necessary for a successful project.  Points awarded to States’ applications will be 
based on the desirability, reasonableness, cost, and thoroughness of their proposal. 

 
C39. FNS describes a situation in which a HIP participant at a retailer with standalone POS 

terminal would have to identify themselves as participating in HIP.  Does FNS have 
any concerns that this may violate privacy rights or risk identification and 
stigmatization of HIP participants?  

 
 A. No.  See response to Question C15. 
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C40. Has FNS determined that federal requirements for the protection of human subjects 

do not apply to this RFA?  What flexibility might there be in the event of delays in 
approval by State Institutional Review Boards?   

 
A. See response to Question C15.  The HIP evaluation is subject to OMB approval 

and depending on the evaluation contractor selected, the contractors’ internal 
human subjects review.  If States are subject to additional reviews they are 
responsible for allocating time and providing a justification to FNS as part of their 
applications.  

 

C41. Will the stipend provided to the evaluation participants be excluded from income 
counted for SNAP eligibility?   

 
 A. Yes. 

 
C42. FNS proposes that the HIP incentive delivery be phased in over three months with 

one-third of HIP participants becoming eligible to receive the incentive each month.  
From the retailer, participant and EBT system point of view, it would be easier to 
start all incentive delivery on one date and then run the incentive delivery for all 
participants, all retailers and the entire EBT system.  Is it possible to modify the 
proposed timeline to add two months to the preparation period and then start 
incentive delivery at the same time for all HIP participants and end incentive delivery 
12 months later for all HIP participants?  

 
A. The staggered start is intended to reduce burden of HIP participant recruitment 

and training on the State and/or its partners.  If a State feels that beginning 
incentive delivery in one month rather than over three months is more feasible in 
their site, States may propose to do so and provide a justification and revised 
implementation and operations schedule.  This schedule must, however, be 
compatible with the evaluation data collection.  In addition, States are required to 
begin incentive delivery no later than 15 months after the execution of the 
cooperative agreement. FNS also notes that delaying the implementation by two 
months would mean that important testing and implementation work would be 
done over the holidays (November and December) instead of September and 
October.  

 
The determination about the schedule for both the Pilot and the evaluation data 
collection will be made with regard to technical feasibility as demonstrated by the 
State and what represents the best value to the Government. 

 
C43. Will the monthly incentive cap to be determined by FNS be a fixed dollar amount or a 

variable dollar amount based on household size or other variable?   
 

A. The cap will be a fixed dollar amount. 
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C44. If the nutrition education portion of HIP is funded, would the State Agency have to 
self-fund the activities in its SNAP-Ed state plan, or would USDA make available 
additional funds?   

 
A. If the test of a nutrition education plus incentive condition is funded there will be 

no additional funding for nutrition education activities beyond the usual cost 
sharing between the State and FNS. The additional funding would be targeted to 
the data collection needed to test this condition. It is expected that the nutrition 
education provided to a HIP participant in the nutrition education plus incentive 
condition would be similar to nutrition education routinely provided to  SNAP 
participants at the Pilot site.  

 

C45. Can the expunged incentive dollars be used in the same way as the expunged SNAP 
dollars, for example, for repayment of any over issuance?  

 
 A. Yes, they can be used for repayment of an overissuance.   
 

D.  Retailers  

D1. FNS requires that all retailers be able to identify HIP participants that are eligible for 
the incentive.  Integrated retailers will modify their system to identify HIP eligible 
items during the check-out process and the messaging between the integrated retailer 
and the EBT contractor will take care of sub-totaling the HIP items, calculating the 
rebate amount, and adding the HIP rebate value to the receipt.  Therefore it won’t be 
necessary for the integrated retailer to identify the HIP participant as that will be done 
systematically.  Given that, would FNS consider changing this requirement to exclude 
integrated retailers from the requirement that they identify HIP participants?  

 
 A. Our intent is that HIP recipients will not need to identify themselves to integrated 

retailers. 
 
D2. Page 10, Participant Identification – Our state has already met with the retailer 

industry and representatives from large chains and independent grocers.  In the first 
paragraph, the RFA states “Ultimately it will be the EBT contractor’s system that 
must identify the household as a HIP household, not the client or retailer”.  In the 
subsequent paragraph, language discusses that that there are several ways to identify 
the HIP participant, i.e., sticker on EBT card, self-identification, etc.  Neither of those 
options are fool proof as referenced in the RFA.  Retailers indicated that the 
identification process takes EBT backward in time and brings back the stigma 
associated with paper coupons.  Retailers ultimately want the EBT contractor to bear 
the burden of identification.  They are also aware that this means that they would 
need to submit the HIP value of the purchase for every SNAP transaction in the Pilot 
area.  This method will require less decision making at the front end of the stores.  
Retailers stressed they must have ease of operation.  If the state develops a plan that 
does not require any self identification or requires the cashier to view the EBT card 
will this be acceptable?   

 



15 
 

A. This requirement was intended to reduce the burden on retailers that use 
standalone point of sale (POS) terminals or vouchers.  Since HIP participants will 
represent only a small percentage of total SNAP participants, FNS does not want 
to require that these retailers and all of their clients sort items into three categories 
(HIP-eligible, HIP-ineligible but SNAP-eligible, and SNAP-ineligible) for every 
SNAP household transaction.  It would only be necessary for those participants 
eligible for HIP incentives.  FNS has already recognized that retailers that use 
IECR systems to identify and total HIP-eligible products will have no need to 
identify HIP participants and we expect that they will transmit HIP totals for all 
SNAP participants.   

 
We do not require any retailer to identify HIP participants if they do not wish to 
do so.  If a retailer with standalone equipment believes that it is easier for its 
clerks to handle all transactions in the same manner and enter HIP values for all 
SNAP customers, they may do so.  If an applicant wishes to require all retailers to 
enter HIP data for every SNAP transaction during the Pilot, that would be 
acceptable to FNS.  In that case, the proposal must describe how this would be 
handled for small retailers that do not wish to calculate HIP values for every 
SNAP transaction, and address the impact of this decision on non-HIP 
participants (e.g., client training). 

 
D3. FNS suggests that IECR retailers participating in HIP will calculate and transmit the 

value of HIP target foods purchased for all SNAP households and that retailers with 
standalone POS terminals will only do this for HIP participants.  This is inconsistent 
with the requirement in Attachment A for reporting on the HIP target food subtotals 
regardless of Pilot group status of SNAP household.  Do the values of HIP target 
foods purchased also need to be collected for the evaluation control group?   

 
A. See response to question D2 regarding rationale for not collecting HIP data for 
non-participants.   FNS does not require data collection on HIP purchases for control 
group participants, and will rely instead on dietary intake information collected 
during evaluation interviews.  Also see response to G10.  

 
D4. Among other things, the software in standalone EBT terminals will need to be 

modified to print on the customer receipt the amount of HIP incentive awards earned 
along with the current purchase amount and the cumulate monthly HIP earnings with 
“concise explanations”.  Please provide clarification and examples of “concise 
explanations”.   

 
A. These would be explanations similar to the example listed on page 10 of the RFA 

under Messages to HIP Participants. 
 
D5. Page 10, Messages to HIP Participants – The RFA identifies the message to be 

displayed on the customer receipts.  Has (store name removed) changed their system 
over the past few years and do they print balances on receipts?  Will USDA allow any 
exceptions to this policy?   
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A. We were not aware that (store name removed) did not print EBT balances on 
receipts, and have confirmed that they are, in fact, doing so.   The Pilot is 
designed to test the impact of an immediate reward for purchase of target foods.  
If that reward is not communicated in some manner at the point of purchase the 
client would not be fully aware of the reward or its value.  Therefore FNS will not 
approve any exceptions to this policy. 

 
D6. Retailers expressed concern over the length of the HIP message printing on 

the receipt.  Please confirm that this is mandatory even though ARU and client portals 
are options.   

 
A.  See response to Question D5. FNS considers the requirement necessary; however, 

the exact content and wording of the message shall be determined in consultation 
with retailers and terminal providers during the design phase of the Pilot. 

 
D7. Both the incentive amount (for the current transaction) and the accumulated monthly 

value of incentives earned must be included on the cash register receipt in addition to 
the remaining SNAP balance. In keeping with the notion that the remaining SNAP 
balance represents the amount the cardholder has available to spend on their next 
shopping trip, our assumption is that the remaining SNAP balance printed on the 
receipt will represent the available SNAP balance including the HIP incentive just 
earned on the transaction.  Therefore, please confirm our assumption that FNS is 
requiring each of the following items to be printed separately on the transaction 
receipt:  

 
 Available SNAP account balance (including HIP incentive just earned). 
 HIP incentive earned for the current transaction. 
 Total HIP incentive earned for the given month. 
 Available Cash account balance.  

 
A. FNS does not require that the available cash balance be printed on the receipt.  

That is a State decision.  FNS does require that the first three bullet items be 
included for HIP participants. 

 
D8. Page 13, Retailers – Responsibility includes maintaining and providing to the State a 

list of eligible target food and identify the cost of the target foods.  As we are a SNAP 
agency and familiar with SNAP regulations, it is unclear as the purpose of the list.  
We understand that WIC excludes some food items due to the cost of those items.  
For SNAP, there are no such limitations.  Is the cost data to be utilized by the 
evaluation contractor and for estimation of total expenditures for the incentives?    

 
A. FNS will require an electronic file of eligible target foods entered into each 

retailer’s Integrated Electronic Cash Register (IECR) system.  Product lists are not 
required for retailers using standalone POS or vouchers only.  The purpose of this 
list is twofold.  First is so that IECR retailers do not all have to start their coding 
of HIP-eligible foods from scratch.  FNS currently has a database of the Universal 
Price Codes (UPC) and Price Look-Up (PLU) codes allowed by WIC EBT States 
for approved WIC fruit and vegetable products.  We plan to share this list with 
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participating retailers.  Many stores will have regional products, private label 
brands and other in-house UPCs that also need to be flagged as HIP-eligible. 

 
As each retailer completes its coding, FNS will want to add any newly identified 
products to our database.  These, in turn, will be shared with retailers that have 
not started or are still in the process of coding eligible foods, and this cycle will 
continue until all integrated retailers have completed their database updates, 
Retailers will not be required to provide prices in the UPC/PLU file.  The 
requirement to provide prices only applies to individual transactions, in which the 
retailer includes the total price of all HIP-eligible items, not their individual costs. 

 
Second, the final lists as amended by retailers during the programming process 
will allow the data on HIP impacts to be linked to the set of products that were, in 
fact, incentivized.  

 
The national WIC definitions of fruits and vegetables are being used for HIP.  
Other aspects of WIC regulations do not apply to HIP.  The WIC definitions are 
simply the rules being applied to the inclusion or exclusion of products eligible to 
earn a HIP incentive.  There are no cost exclusions on items eligible for HIP, 
although the amount of incentive that can be earned by a household during a 
month will be capped. 

 
D9. Page 13, Retailers - Responsibility includes maintaining and providing to the State a 

list of eligible target food and identify the cost of the target foods.  We believe this 
could be problematic for farmers and markets. Seasonal produce available at farmers 
markets varies daily.  There are many reasons for the variation; weather conditions 
(cold spring, drought, late freeze, excessive rain, flooding, etc.) and timing of the 
planting by an individual farmer, insects, bad seed, etc.  The price for produce will 
change depending on the time of the season.  For example, sweet corn on July 1st. 
will most likely cost more than corn in late August or September.  Early strawberries 
or greens grown in a hoop building may cost more than traditional in-season 
strawberries or greens.  Farmers are extremely busy weeding, harvesting, prepping 
items and going to market.  It would be burdensome for the farmers to have to update 
the product list monthly, weekly or daily.  Please clarify the expectation for farmers 
and/or markets.  

 
A. See response to question D8.  Unless the farmers will use IECR systems, they are 

not required to provide any product listing.  If they do use such a system, no 
pricing information is required in the list. 

 
D10. Page 13, Retailers – The SNAP and FMNP programs rely on farmers to sell only 

eligible food items.  States have an obligation to train each farmer/market as to the 
rules of the programs.  States also perform monitoring of farmers/markets to ensure 
that rules are adhered too.  Would it acceptable to have the farmers in the Pilot area 
submit one product list at the beginning of the season with a one-time estimated price 
range?  There would be an understanding that not all products may actually be sold as 
crop failure, weather, etc are factors.    
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 A. See responses to questions D8 and D9. HIP will not allow, by definition, all 
products sold at a farmer’s market to earn the HIP incentive. The product must meet 
the definition of an eligible food. 

 
D11. Retailers, among other responsibilities, will be required to maintain and provide to the 

State a list of eligible target foods.  In what format will FNS require this list to be 
provided?  If a retailer has more than one location, will a list be required for each 
location?   

 
A. The list will be an electronic file.  Final determination of the data elements, data 

structure and the file characteristics will take place in consultation with retailers 
during the Pilot design phase.  For chain stores with multiple locations in the 
Pilot, we will require one list that covers all eligible items available at any or all 
Pilot locations. 

 
D12. Page 9, Chart Relating to WIC – In recent discussion with retailers and large chains, a 

concern was brought up as to how the retailers will know what eligible food items are 
on the list.  If WIC rules are applied, we are assuming that the list of eligible food 
items could vary during the Pilot period.  What process or procedures will FNS 
require to ensure that retailers are assured to having access to the most recent list?  Is 
there a certain frequency in which the WIC agency must update the list for retailers?   

 
A. Retailers using IECR systems will not need their clerks to know what foods are on 

the eligible list.  The system will determine which items are eligible for the clerk.  
As indicated in the response to question B2, eligible foods will be determined by 
the national WIC definition, not the State WIC agency’s list of eligible foods.  
FNS does not expect the definition of eligible fruits and vegetables to vary during 
the life of the Pilot.  The only updates that we would expect would be for new 
products added to the retailer’s inventory after the Pilot starts.  Retailers will need 
to make a determination on how to code the products as they add new UPCs or 
PLUs to their database.  This would be similar to the process they currently 
follow for coding whether the new items are SNAP-eligible or not.  The 
frequency and process for sharing this data and the need for interim updates 
during the Pilot will be determined in consultation with participating retailers 
during the design phase of the Pilot. FNS will continue to add new products to our 
database whenever the retailer notifies us of the update. 

 
D13. Does FNS anticipate that HIP retailers will be required to notify the HIP Grantee of 

any changes to the list of foods eligible to earn the incentive throughout Pilot 
operations?   

 
 A. See response to question D12. 
 
D14. Integrated systems will provide the HIP Grantee with a list, at the beginning and end 

of HIP operations, of foods coded as eligible to earn the incentive.  Please define the 
process for notifying the retailers of changes in the eligible food list.  

 
 A. See responses to questions D8 and D12. 
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D15. With regard to those products eligible for the HIP incentive, it states on page 26 of 
the RFA that FNS does not plan to maintain its own database and will provide the 
Pilot a list at the beginning and at the end of the Pilot.  Is it reasonable to expect that 
eligible products may change over the life of the Pilot?  Who will be the final arbiter 
of what is an HIP eligible item?  Figure 1 on page 9 lists the minimum requirements.  
Does FNS foresee issues where the clerk is the final decision point as to whether 
something is eligible or not?   

 
A. Subsequent to release of the RFA, FNS decided that we will maintain the central 

database of eligible products.  See response to question D12 about product 
information sharing.  FNS will be the final arbiter of HIP eligibility.  FNS does 
foresee that in some cases, the retailer’s IECR database or the clerk in a non-
IECR store may be the decision point as to eligibility.  That is currently the case 
with determinations on SNAP-eligibility of various products.  As in that situation, 
if a client questions the clerk’s decision and FNS agrees, we would have one of 
our field offices contact the retailer to correct the misunderstanding. 

 
D16. After meeting with retailers, they raised a couple of questions about the list of eligible 

foods.  
 

a.  How long will retailers be expected to keep or maintain the list after the Pilot 
ends?   

b.  Please address this issue in greater detail during the planned teleconference in 
February.  This is an area of general concern for retailers.  Further clarification is 
needed.   

c.  Who is going to maintain the list for all retailers?  Evaluator?   
 

A. FNS responds as follows: 
 
a. IECR retailers are required to submit to the State a complete final list of 

items that were eligible for the incentive at the end of Pilot operations.  
After FNS has acknowledged receipt of the list compiled by the State, 
retailers are no longer obligated to maintain the list. 

b. We believe that we have addressed this in sufficient detail in these Q&As 
and during the teleconference, as no further questions were asked. 

c. See response to question D12. 
 
D17. We understand FNS’ intent to model the eligible healthy food items after the list of 

allowable foods in the WIC program, which is a list of thousands of items.  In order 
to lessen the burden on the participating retailers, will the HIP Grantee be permitted 
to consolidate the items into manageable groups or categories for the retailers?     

 
A. FNS has adopted the requirements for foods eligible for the WIC fruit and 

vegetable voucher as the requirements for HIP target foods (see RFA page 
9). No other WIC foods or WIC policies apply to HIP. We recognize that 
retailers may need a more simplified description of eligible foods, so that IECR 
retailers have guidelines for coding private label and in-house UPC codes and so 
that retailers determining HIP eligibility through visual inspection can easily 
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follow the rules.  Therefore, the above process would be acceptable to FNS, 
subject to our final approval of the groups and categories. 

 
D18. Will retailers be expected to retain data of specific items actually purchased under 

HIP?  If yes, how long will be the retention period?  Retailers expressed a concern 
that this issue could drive up costs.  Also note that this may not be an option for 
farmers markets.  

 
A. Retailers will not be expected to retain any data on the specific items actually 

purchased under HIP. 
 
D19. The RFA suggests that at least one Farmer’s Market be among the Pilot’s 

participating retailers.  Please provide a definition of Farmer’s Market for the purpose 
of the Pilot.  Our State has retail providers that are named Farmers’ Markets.  It is 
unclear that those retailers meet the intent of this expectation.  Also, does the 
Farmer’s Market have to be accepting EBT electronically through the use of a 
terminal or is this the test case for the use of vouchers?   

 
A. For the purposes of the HIP Pilot, farmers’ markets are defined as markets 

authorized by FNS as a single entity under a market manager, or other umbrella 
organization, that hosts multiple vendors selling HIP-eligible food items.  Farm 
stands and farmers that participate in markets but are individually authorized by 
FNS would not provide the type of operation that we specifically seek for 
inclusion in the Pilot.  However, FNS is not opposed to inclusion of individual 
farmers in the Pilot.  The Pilot is intended to test the use of both standalone 
terminals and voucher-only retailers in addition to retailers with IECR systems.  
Therefore, either type of farmers’ market situation (or both) would be acceptable. 

 
D20. Currently, many farmers’ markets operate on a scrip system where SNAP households 

purchase a scrip from a central location and then can spend it at any EBT-authorized 
vendor in the farmers’ market, whether they sell fruits and vegetables or other SNAP-
eligible item.  Can we assume the all purchases of scrip at a farmers’ market will be 
consider HIP eligible and thus qualifies for the HIP incentive?   

 
A. No (see D10)If any vendor in the market sells HIP-ineligible (but SNAP-eligible) 

items, the central location must provide two different scrips or tokens.  One would 
be identified as being only for HIP foods and the other for any SNAP-eligible 
items.  The total value of the transaction would be entered as the food total and 
the value of the HIP-only scrip or tokens would be entered as the HIP value.   

 
E.  EBT System 

E1. For manual voucher, does FNS envision the HIP Incentive to be posted to client’s 
account upon voucher authorization or upon voucher clear?   

 
A. FNS has not specified how this is to be done.  We do not want to place any 

burdensome requirements on States and believe that the EBT contractor and the 
HIP Grantee would be in a better position to determine which method would work 
best in their environment.  Therefore, the application should address the proposed 
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voucher process, timing of the posting of the HIP incentive, and method of client 
notification. 

 
E2. Page 22, EBT System Programming, Accounting & Reporting – 3rd bullet “read the 

combined value of HIP target foods from the retailer’s transaction message and 
multiply by 30%, rounding to the nearest penny”.  Farmers markets are a fast paced 
atmosphere; in many cases, only one person operates the stand at the market.  
Farmers using wireless POS devices need the technology to process transactions 
quickly.  Multi tasking is the mantra for farmers.  While waiting for the receipts to 
print on the wireless POS, farmers are busy taking cash from other customers.  Will 
USDA permit farmers to enter only the ‘total’ cost of eligible food items on wireless 
terminals?   

 
A. The bullet in question applies to the EBT contractor’s responsibilities.  FNS only 

requires that the retailer (including farmers’ markets) enter the total cost of HIP-
eligible items in the transaction.  Once it has been transmitted to the EBT 
contractor, the contractor’s system will read the value from the retailer’s message 
and multiply it by 30% to determine the incentive value. 

 
E3. On page 22 of the HIP RFA, FNS states that the EBT system must “keep a separate 

running tally (applying both HIP incentive credits and fruit and vegetable purchase 
debits) of each HIP participant’s current monthly transactions to ensure that the cap 
amount is not exceeded”.  What is meant by “fruit and vegetable purchase debits” and 
how is this combined with HIP incentive credits?  Based on the previous requirement, 
the cap is on the total HIP incentive credits earned in a month by a household.   

 
A. This depends on whether the transaction is a credit or debit to the client.  For 

purchases, the value of the fruits and vegetables (i.e., HIP-eligible foods) would 
be used to calculate the incentive value which would be added to the running tally 
until the cap is exceeded.  For refunds, the value of HIP-eligible items returned 
would be multiplied by 30 percent, but in this case it would be deducted from the 
tally.  If the returned value is greater than the tally, then the tally would be set to 
$0.00 rather than a negative value.   

 
E4. For a HIP refund, please confirm that: 
 

 The retailer will report the total value being refunded plus the HIP subtotal for the 
returned item(s) to the EBT Contractor; 

 The EBT Contractor will then post a credit for the total value of the return; and 
 The EBT Contractor will calculate the HIP incentive that would have been earned 

on the returned HIP eligible item(s) and debit the calculated HIP incentive value 
while ensuring the value doesn’t go below $0.00.   

 
A. The first bullet is correct.  Bullet three would be the next step.  The amount 

credited to the client’s account would equal the total value of the refund, minus 30 
percent of the HIP subtotal returned.   

 
E5. Page 22 of the RFA includes a requirement for processing SNAP returns that include 

a HIP value.  The process for processing a return is confusing and, as written, appears 
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to result in negative HIP earnings.  Request clarification of this requirement, 
specifically: 

 
 Will the HIP values entered by the retailer for a SNAP return only include items 

where a HIP incentive was received or will it include all HIP items returned? 
 Under what circumstances will HIP benefits be reduced when a SNAP return 

includes a HIP value? 
 What if the balance of HIP benefits is zero? 
 How will this affect the monthly HIP benefit cap?   

 
A. See response to E4.  The value of the current monthly HIP tally will be reduced 

whenever there is a refund for HIP-eligible products and the tally is greater than 
zero.  In effect, it would be a “negative” HIP earning, and the incentive value 
would not be credited to the participant’s account; it would instead revert back to 
FNS.  The HIP value would never go below $0.00.  Because the tally has been 
reduced the client may “earn” the amount back by making future purchases of 
eligible foods.  In order to do this, the running tally must be increased every time 
that a HIP incentive is created, and decreased every time that an incentive reverts 
back to FNS. 

 
E6. With regard to the requirement that states the EBT contractor will “keep a separate 

running tally (applying both HIP incentive credits and fruit and vegetable purchase 
debits – Attachment A) of each HIP participant’s current monthly transactions to 
ensure that the cap amount is not exceeded,” can FNS confirm that the EBT System is 
required to:   

 
 Track monthly totals for HIP incentive credits. 
 Track monthly totals of fruit and vegetable purchase amounts. 
 Track Pilot cumulative totals of the HIP incentive credits earned. 
 Track Pilot cumulative totals of fruit and vegetable purchase amounts. 
 Ensure that each HIP participant does not exceed their monthly HIP incentive cap? 

 
 A. Of the above list, FNS requires the EBT system to track the following: 
 

 Track monthly totals for HIP incentive credits. 
 Ensure that each HIP participant does not exceed their monthly HIP   

incentive cap. 
 

The system will need to record the following data for every transaction 
 

 Total of fruit and vegetable purchase or refund amount. 
 Total incentive earned. 
 The post-transaction value of the updated monthly tally. 

 
Using those three elements the Contractor can then provide reports that tally the 
monthly and total Pilot cumulative values for fruit and vegetable purchases and 
incentives earned by individual and as summary totals. 
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E7. Demographic record changes such as “changes in the participant type” are to be 
included in the required data files.  Can FNS provide examples of changes in 
participant type?   

 
A. This refers to the classification of the participant, i.e., (1) HIP evaluation 

participant, (2) HIP non-evaluation participant, (3) HIP control group participant 
or (4) in Pilot area but not a participant (a total of four identifiers).  Any time 
there is a change to a participant’s code we need to be made aware of that change 
in order to ensure that participants have been correctly identified throughout the 
Pilot. 

 
E8. Please clarify FNS’ expectation regarding participant type changes with regard to 

data collection and reporting.   
 

A. FNS expects that a record will be included in the daily extract file for each change 
in the participant type code from the point when the first participant is coded until 
the end of the Pilot, in order to monitor the changes.  Most changes would occur 
in the first three months of the pilot as each of the participants in the three groups 
gets identified in the EBT system.  Later, changes would be needed if a 
participant chooses to drop out or is otherwise removed from the participant 
category.  We also expect each transaction record in the daily extract file to 
include the participant code of record at the time the transaction is authorized or 
denied. 

 
E9. With regard to the required data files, please clarify if the detailed set of records 

specified must include data for the entire SNAP caseload in the 35,000 to 60,000 
household Pilot site, or if only records pertaining to the 7,500 HIP participant 
households are to be included.   

 
A. FNS needs to receive detail records for all participants in the Pilot site.  Each 

record would contain the household identifier, FNS authorization number and 
participant type code, and FNS would have the ability to perform additional in-
house data analysis in combination with our existing STARS and ALERT data. 

 
E10. HIP eligible fruit and vegetable subtotals for relevant transactions (regardless of Pilot 

group) are to be included in the required data files.  Does this mean that HIP eligible 
fruit and vegetable purchase values must be collected for the entire SNAP caseload in 
the Pilot area, or the 7,500 HIP participating households, or the 1,500 evaluation 
experimental households, or the 1,500 evaluation control households, or some 
combination of these subsets?   

 
A. FNS requires that the data be collected for all SNAP households in the Pilot area.  

We anticipate that all IECR retailers will include a HIP value (even if $0.00) in 
every transaction that they transmit to the EBT contractor for authorization.  
Therefore, the contractor should record the HIP value in the permanent 
transaction record, whether or not the client is a HIP participant.  We do not 
expect other participating HIP retailers to collect HIP data, and if no HIP value is 
included in their transactions for non-participants, then the value in the permanent 
transaction record can default to $0.00.  Historically, over 80% of SNAP 
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transactions are performed at supermarkets, which all have IECR systems.  
Therefore, a significant amount of additional HIP data can be incorporated into 
our in-house analysis. 

 
E11. Is it FNS’ expectation that the HIP daily activity extract file be provided directly to 

FNS by the EBT Contractor, or will the EBT Contractor provide the file directly to 
the HIP Grantee?   

 
A. Our intention is to have the files provided directly to FNS, using the same 

transmission method the contractor currently uses for ALERT files. 
 
E12. FNS requires daily activity extract files in a format that can be linked to SNAP 

administrative files.  Please clarify that “a format that can be linked to SNAP 
administrative files” refers to the use of a unique identifier that would be included on 
both the HIP daily extract file and the regular SNAP data files in order to link HIP 
and SNAP activity for the same cardholder   

 
A. FNS plans to perform additional internal data analysis in conjunction with 

ALERT and STARS data.  Therefore, transactions should contain the same data 
value as the corresponding ALERT record for FNS authorization number and 
“household identifier”.  This is usually the case number but in some States may be 
a client ID. 

 
E13. FNS requires that the retailer type code be validated as being allowable for the Pilot.  

Does this requirement refer to the retailer type codes that are currently contained on 
the REDE file?   

 
A. Yes.  As indicated, on page 9 of the RFA under Retailers, certain retailer types 

will not be allowed to participate in the Pilot.  Although comparison to the REDE 
file appears to be the most logical way to screen out these types of retailers, 
applicants may propose and justify alternative methods. 

 
E14. Other than the type codes on the REDE file, what other valid type codes would be 

expected to be used?  (Attachment F, 4c)  
 

A. FNS does not propose elimination of any additional type codes beyond those 
referenced in the response to question E13.  Nor will there be any other codes 
added. 

 
E15. Will FNS provide the list of allowable retailer type codes to be used for the Pilot?   
 
 A. Yes. 
 
E16. With regard to web access for clients and retailers, the RFA mentions the use of an 

ARU for customer service.  The use of the internet for balance and history 
information for clients and balancing information for merchant is fairly significant.  Is 
it up to the Pilot state to determine if it wants to enhance that functionality for HIP for 
the internet?  
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A. Based on our previous discussions with the EBT contractors, they considered 
ARU changes to be potentially cost prohibitive and difficult to implement because 
the required changes would only apply to a small group of people.  They did not 
indicate that changes to the client portal would also be overly expensive.  FNS 
expects that that any changes to the client portal would be similar to the new 
administrative terminal functionality required for FNS to track historical HIP 
data.  HIP participants must have the capability to obtain information about 
incentives earned and their current monthly earnings.  If the applicant decides that 
client portal changes are cost prohibitive, they must provide this functionality 
through the ARU.  Any other alternative must be handled as an enhancement with 
a separate budget and justification.  Changes to the retailer portal are not 
mandatory or considered necessary by FNS, 

 
E17. EBT-Only retailers or those using vouchers will need to identify and separate HIP 

target foods, calculate the subtotal and record the subtotal value for those items in 
order for the HIP rebate amount to be calculated.  It is possible that a cardholder 
could initiate an adjustment request by claiming that either the rebate amount posted 
to their account was incorrect or that no rebate amount was posted.  What rules will 
FNS impose around such a claim?   

 
A. Yes, Clients may request adjustments in either situation described above.  The 

action taken depends on whether the store is a HIP-eligible retailer type, whether 
the store is participating in the Pilot, and whether the participant has already 
exceeded the monthly incentive cap, etc. 

 
E18. How would the claim process work if a client thinks that the incentive calculation is 

wrong for a certain purchase?  
 
 A. See the response to question E17. 
 
E19. If a cardholder initiated a claim regarding the HIP incentive amount, how would the 

EBT contractor make a determination of the validity of the claim as the items 
purchased will not be part of the transaction record?   

 
A. We recommend that States require an itemized store receipt identifying products 

purchased so that the actual value of HIP eligible items can be supported.  FNS 
also recommends that States address this requirement in client training. 

 
E20. General, Test Scripts – Does FNS want test scripts to approve prior to actual testing?   
 

A. Yes.  Timeframes for this activity must be addressed in the EBT contractor’s 
Design, Development, Implementation and Operations Plan. 

 
F.  Reports 

F1.  It is required that data on all households in the Pilot site will be kept and reported for 
the duration of the Pilot.  Does this requirement include data on the entire 35,000 to 
60,000 SNAP households in the Pilot site or is it intended to only include data on the 
7,500 HIP participant households?   
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A. Once the EBT data for all 35,000-60,000 SNAP households has been transmitted 

to FNS in the daily extract file, the EBT contractor must continue to keep and 
report on data for the 7500 HIP participant households and the 1500 control group 
households for the duration of the Pilot.  Data on the remaining Pilot area SNAP 
participants may be moved off-line at the normal interval specified in the State 
EBT contract.  This data is required for the reports and administrative 
functionality described in the response to F2. 

 
F2. Does FNS require only a daily activity extract file or will formatted reports be   

required?  If reports are required, can FNS provide a list of the required reports and 
the specific data elements to be included on each?   

 
A. Formatted reports or administrative terminal screens will be required as described 

in the RFA on page 24, item 4 of Attachment A and page 38, first dark bullet and 
sub-bullets of Attachment F excluding the last line. 

 
F3. What specific reporting does FNS require related to the control group?   
 

A. See response to F1. 
  

F4.  Who is responsible for maintaining the Pilot site data for the duration of the Pilot, 
FNS or the HIP Grantee?   

 
A. FNS will be responsible for the Pilot site data that is transmitted to us in the daily 

activity file.  The State and/or EBT contractor will not be required to retain 
duplicates of these files or perform any analysis of the data.  This does not relieve 
the HIP Grantee from its responsibility to maintain the data identified in the 
response to question F1, produce reports identified in the response to Question F2, 
and provide the administrative terminal functionality described in the RFA on 
page 24, item 3 of Attachment A.   

 
F5. FNS requires the HIP Grantee to provide quarterly reports, final reports, and special 

reports as specified in the cooperative agreement.  Can FNS provide specific 
descriptions of any quarterly, final or special reports that they anticipate including in 
the cooperative agreement that aren’t already defined within Attachment A or 
Attachment F?   

 
A. All reports FNS currently anticipates requiring are outlined in the RFA. Final 

details of these reports will need to be agreed upon jointly by FNS and the HIP 
Grantee in the context of the States’ proposal and the evaluation plan adopted by 
FNS upon execution of the cooperative agreement. There will not be requirements 
of the HIP Grantee that are not detailed in either the RFA or cooperative 
agreement.  

 
F6. Would FNS elaborate on the reporting schedule and obligations between the HIP 

Grantee and the FNS?  In the RFP for HIP evaluation, there are some weekly 
timetables.  
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A. FNS has provided its best estimate for reporting and schedule in the RFA. Further 
detail will depend on the State’s proposal and the individualized evaluation plan 
adopted by FNS. 

 
F7. Does the regular SNAP reporting that the State Agency currently submits to FNS 

need to reflect this new HIP benefit type or would the new HIP benefit type data be 
“suppressed” in the State’s regular SNAP/FSP reports to FNS?  

 
A. The FNS-46 Report should only include data about State-issued benefits.  FNS 

will track HIP benefit redemptions separately.   
 
F8. According to page 23 of the RFA document, expungement of HIP benefits should 

follow the same rules as other SNAP benefits in the account. Does this mean that it 
would be reported to the State SNAP Agency and FNS in the DFA885 and DFA256 
reports? Is there any special requirement when these benefits are reported to the state 
or the Federal government?   

 
 A. See response to question F7.  This also applies to expungements.   
 

G.  HIP Evaluation 
 

G1. How will the evaluator go about completing an environmental scan of nutrition 
related activities occurring in the community that could influence healthy food 
purchases?  These activities include:  SNAP-Ed, USDA FF&V Program, WIC new 
food package, WIC Fruit and Vegetable Project, Healthy communities projects, Fruits 
& Veggies More Matters campaign, and potentially others.  Will the evaluator control 
these variables?  If so, how will this be done?   

 
A. FNS will not have specifics of the evaluation activities until after an evaluation 

contractor is selected and the study plan is developed. 
 

FNS has controlled non-HIP activities that may influence the intake of fruits, 
vegetables, and other foods by specifying an experimental design for the 
evaluation, which utilizes random assignment of participants to treatment and 
control groups.  This ensures that differences observed between the treatment and 
control groups can be attributed to HIP. 

 
G2. Since there will be a cap on the dollar amount of the incentive (to be determined) to 

ensure that purchase leads to consumption, why not include a nutrition education 
component for a sub sample?   

 
 A. Funds for incentive benefits are not the limiting factor for including a nutrition 

education component in HIP. The purpose of including a nutrition education 
component would be to test whether providing nutrition education in addition to 
the financial incentive increases fruit and vegetable intake. This requires 
additional data collection with a study group of at least 1500 participants which 
would require funding beyond what is currently available. 
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G3. When will the 1500 study participants and 1500 control group participants be 
selected? Will states know at the beginning, middle or end of the Pilot who these 
participants are?   

 
A. Study participants will be selected approximately 2 months prior to their 

anticipated month of HIP participation. States will know who the selected 
participants are throughout the Pilot and will be required to assist in the 
notification, training, and tracking of participants. 

 
G4. What is the timeline for selecting the evaluation contractor?   
 

A. Proposals from evaluation contractors are due March 16, 2010.  FNS plans to 
award the evaluation contract in June, 2010. 

 
G5. Please confirm that FNS intends for: 
 

 7,500 randomly selected SNAP households to participate in the Pilot. 
 1,500 of the households selected to participate will comprise the evaluation 

experimental group. 
 1,500 households not participating in the Pilot will comprise the evaluation 

control group.   
 
 A. Yes. 
 
G6. It is our understanding that a control group should be the same size as the 

experimental group. If these are the groups of 1,500 households described above, 
please explain the role of the 6,000 households which are selected to participate in the 
Pilot but not selected to be part of the evaluation experimental group?   

 
A. FNS intends to provide 7500 households an opportunity to participate in HIP to 

make the project sufficiently attractive to stakeholders, such as the State and 
retailers. 

 
G7.  Please clarify how the evaluation control group will be used to establish the baseline.   
 

A. A short baseline survey will conducted for both evaluation groups. The control 
group will be used as a cross-sectional comparison to the experimental group at 
waves 2 and 3. 

 
G8.  According to this section, FNS plans for approximately one-third of HIP households 

to be introduced into the Pilot during each of the first three months of operations. To 
simplify operations and reduce confusion, would FNS consider concurrent 
introduction of all HIP households into Pilot Operations?  

 
 A. See response to Question C42. 
 
G9.  If FNS will not consider the concurrent introduction of all HIP households, could 

FNS provide the rationale for spreading the HIP participant enrollment over a three-
month period?   
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 A. See response to Question C42. 
 
G10.  FNS states that retailers with standalone POS terminals will have to visually identify, 

separate and subtotal HIP eligible items, and therefore will need some means of 
identifying HIP participants at the start of the sales transaction to ensure that 
participants receive the incentives to which they are entitled. 

 
 This seems to conflict with the data needs for the control group. Please confirm that 
both the HIP participants and the control group would need to be identified by the 
retailer prior to the transaction since the healthy food purchases of the control group 
(non-HIP participants) will also need to be recorded for evaluation purposes.  

 
A. Fruit and vegetable purchase sub-totals will be collected for all Pilot site SNAP 

participants’ transactions at retailers using electronic cash registers with scanners. 
For retailers with standalone point-of-sale (POS) devices, only HIP participants 
will be required to identify themselves in order to earn the incentive, and only 
their data will be available. General questions about fruit and vegetable spending 
and detailed individual dietary intake data will be collected from evaluation 
experimental and control group participants and will form the basis for the impact 
analysis. 

 
G11. Can FNS clarify the amount of the stipend and how it will be paid to each of the 

1,500 HIP experimental evaluation households and the 1,500 evaluation control group 
households?   

 
A. The stipend for participation in the HIP data collection has not yet been 

determined. Any stipend will be justified to and approved by OMB. Stipends for 
participation in the evaluation will be paid from the evaluation contract and 
should not be included in States’ budgets. 

 
G12. Is the stipend an incentive for members of these households to make an extra trip to 

the local office to be interviewed by the Evaluation Contractor?   
 

A. Stipends provided to HIP evaluation participants are intended to defray the cost of 
participation, which may include transportation, childcare, or other costs. FNS 
expects data collection interviews to take place in participants’ homes or another 
mutually agreed upon location. 

 
G13.  Please define the three waves of data collection referenced in the Roles and 

Responsibilities section.   
 

A. Wave 1 of data collection is the baseline survey the designated household member 
will complete prior to participation in HIP.  Wave 2 of data collection is the first 
round of 24-hour dietary recall interviews and associated data collection to take 
place around month 3-4 of HIP participation.  Wave 3 of data collection is the 
second round of dietary recall interviews and associated data collection to take 
place around month 10-11 of HIP participation. 
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G14. In the Roles and Responsibilities section it states that members of the State’s HIP 
team shall take whatever steps necessary to limit the provision of information about 
HIP to participating SNAP households.  Please explain FNS’ intent regarding this 
requirement.  It is our experience that the SNAP customers have a “word of mouth” 
network that will spread information about the HIP incentive within approximately 
three days.  

 
A. Community interventions utilizing a control group are imperfect.  While FNS 

understands that some non-HIP SNAP households will know about HIP, it is 
important for the State, its partners, and FNS to take steps to ensure that control 
group participants are exposed to as little of HIP as possible.  Exposure of control 
group participants to information or training on HIP, even without the provision 
of an incentive, may change their behavior and compromise the evaluation design. 
Thus the State must refrain from any public promotion of HIP.  The State should 
demonstrate its understanding of this constraint by preparing a set of questions 
and answers or frequently asked questions they will use to respond to inquiries 
about HIP from non-HIP households. 

 
G15. How long following the completion of the Pilot will data be required to be maintained 

for evaluation purposes?   
 

A. FNS assumes “data” refer to EBT transaction data and other State administrative 
systems data.  States and EBT contractors are required to maintain the data for the 
standard time period, however, States must ensure that the necessary data has 
been provided to FNS and/or the evaluation contractor before it is deleted. 

 
G16. How and by whom will the 7,500 HIP households be selected?  What specific 

information (e.g. from the eligibility system or other sources) will the State need to 
provide to FNS to assist in making this selection?  

 
A.  The State will provide a list of eligible household identification numbers based on 

administrative records on the caseload at the Pilot site to the evaluation 
contractor.  Depending on the sampling methods proposed by the evaluation 
contractor, some additional demographic information on the household may be 
required or the multiple lists based on certain demographic features may be 
required.  Once the households are randomly selected by the evaluation 
contractor, the list of households assigned to the HIP incentive group and the HIP 
evaluation group will be returned to the State so that they can be contacted and 
offered participation in the Pilot. 

 
G17. What sort of enhancements might FNS be interested in seeing from applicants that it 

would be viewed favorably in the evaluation of the proposal?   
 

      A. FNS is interested in enhancements that make the Pilot more feasible or   
  manageable in the proposed site.  The intent of State proposed enhancements is  
  not to add substantially to the requirements outlined in the RFA, rather to propose 
  efficiencies for accomplishing the Pilot objectives.  Enhancements may be  
  alternatives to or additions to the specifications in the RFA.  However, all   
  specifications in the RFA must be addressed by the main proposal.    
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  Enhancements may include (1) innovative technology or EBT systems solutions  
  (e.g., immediate redemption of HIP incentives to simplify reconciliation and 
reporting); (2) enhanced plans for partner cooperation and coordination; (3)   
 proactive identification of challenges (e.g., inquiries from non-HIP households)   
 and solutions to those challenges, and other such features not specifically required  
 by the RFA. States should keep in mind that all of the requirements of the RFA   
 must be satisfied before the panel will consider such enhancements and that   
 enhancements must be priced separately and covered by the available funds. 

 
G18. Would FNS be interested in the following enhancements: 
 

 additional data collection focused on HIP household purchase; 
 assistance to small neighborhood stores to increase access to fruits and vegetables;  
 greater reporting of EBT/banking system changes; or 
 additional HIP participant training from community organizations? 

 
Would any of these be seen as a disadvantage to the applicant’s core proposal or 
score?   
 
A. The suggested enhancements will be addressed individually. 
 

 Data collection for HIP must be centralized and coordinated via the selected 
independent evaluation contractor. 

 While FNS values efforts to provide assistance to small neighborhood stores, 
HIP funds are specifically targeted to the provision of incentives to SNAP 
households.  HIP funds may not be used for other purposes, such as 
improvements to retail establishments. 

 FNS does not have enough information about the proposed reporting to answer 
this question.  In general, see Question G17. 

 All HIP participants must receive basic training on how to receive the HIP 
incentive.  No nutrition education or promotion may accompany this basic 
training on the HIP incentive.  States with strong participant training plans will 
be scored favorably. 

 
G19. The Nutrition Education section states that “no additional nutrition education will be 

provided in conjunction with HIP as solicited;” and then states that “however, there is 
potential that additional funds will be provided for testing an incentive plus education 
component of HIP”; and further adds that “if these funds are provided, the HIP 
Grantee shall be required (emphasis on required) to submit commensurate SNAP-Ed 
plans for the period of HIP operations.”  Please clarify the anticipated time frame for 
a decision regarding the provision of additional funds and related activities.   

 
A. FNS expects to know if these funds will be available around October, 2010, 

pending the FY2011 Agriculture Appropriations Bill.  Funds would be used to 
exercise Option 1 of the evaluation contact.  Under these circumstances, the 
State’s HIP-related nutrition education would be funded in the usual way. 

 


